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About the report
The 2014–15 Public Service Commission Annual Report presents performance information for the 
financial year 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015. 

This report aligns with the objectives of the Public Service Commission Strategic Plan 2014–2018 to:
1.  Build a high-performing, engaged, customer-focused workforce.
2.  Create the most productive public sector in the nation.
3.  Be the centre of excellence for workforce strategy across the Queensland public sector.

If you would like to provide feedback on the report, we would encourage you to comment  
via the Get involved website:  
www.qld.gov.au/annualreportfeedback, alternatively you can email  
commission.psc@psc.qld.gov.au

Interpreter service statement

The Queensland Government is committed to providing accessible service to Queenslanders from 
culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. If you would like assistance in reading the report, 
please contact us on (07) 3003 2800 or 13 QGOV (13 74 68) and we will arrange an interpreter to 
effectively communicate the report to you.

Copyright
Copyright © The State of Queensland (Public Service Commission) 2015
Published by the Public Service Commission, September 2015
The Queensland Government supports and encourages the dissemination and exchange of information. 
However, copyright protects this document. The State of Queensland has no objection to this material being 
reproduced and/or made available online or electronically, but only if it is recognised as the owner of the 
copyright and this material remains unaltered. Copyright enquiries about this document should be directed 
to the Public Service Commission, by email commission.psc@psc.qld.gov.au or in writing to PO Box 15190, 
City East, Brisbane QLD 4002.

Licence

The 2014–15 Public Service Commission Annual Report is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 
3.0 Australia licence. To view a copy of this licence, visit creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au. 
Permissions may be available beyond the scope of this licence—see qgcio.qld.gov.au.

More information 
Public Service Commission, email commission.psc@psc.qld.gov.au, phone (07) 3003 2800. 

An electronic version of this document is available at psc.qld.gov.au.

ISSN 1837-2201
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Compliance letter

The Honourable Annastacia Palaszczuk MP
Premier of Queensland
Level 15, Executive Building
100 George Street
Brisbane Qld 4000

Dear Premier

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2014–15 and financial 
statements for the Public Service Commission.

I certify that this annual report complies with:

•  the prescribed requirements of Financial Accountability Act 2009 and 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009

•  the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements 
for Queensland Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found on 
page 76 of this annual report or accessed at www.psc.qld.gov.au.

Yours sincerely

Robert Setter 
Commission Chief Executive (Acting)
Public Service Commission

http://www.psc.qld.gov.au
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Chairperson’s message
I am pleased to present the activities and achievements of the Public Service Commission (PSC) for the 
2014–15 financial year. I am fulfilling the role of Acting Chair for the PSC, following the resignation of  
Dr Doug McTaggart in February 2015. 

The past 12 months were a period of significant change for the public sector and for the PSC. 
Following the 2015 state election, the PSC moved quickly to focus its efforts on implementing the new 
government’s direction, priorities and commitments, including:
• strengthening the focus on the Westminster principles of government
• empowering agencies to deliver quality, sustainable services to Queenslanders
• creating an inclusive, diverse and fair public sector that reflects the community it serves.

Robert Setter, Commission Chief Executive (Acting), conducted the merit-based recruitment of  
directors-general; Andrew Chesterman, former Commission Chief Executive, directed the review of 
statutory-appointed executive roles; and Peter McKay, Deputy Commissioner, led the review of the 
Public Safety Business Agency (PSBA).

These projects were substantially completed during the financial year with final delivery post  
30 June 2015—except for the PSBA review where the majority of the work will be undertaken  
during 2015–16.

The PSC also provided vital direction towards development of the public sector of the future—a 
contemporary workforce with the capability to deliver the government’s objectives for the community. 
The year saw considerable progress with the interconnected priorities of fostering leadership excellence 
and encouraging high performance across the public sector.

There was an associated focus on increasing diversity, inclusiveness and equity across the public sector. 
As well as supporting the government’s objective, this will deliver concrete, long-term benefits in the key 
areas of public sector capability and quality of service provision.

The successful delivery of the PSC’s projects were underwritten by realigning its capabilities and 
structure to government priorities. This included two significant machinery-of-government changes:
•  the transfer of the industrial relations (IR) function to the Queensland Treasurer’s portfolio, as 

Minister for Industrial Relations
•  the inclusion of the First Project (now known as Community Insights) from the Department of the 

Premier and Cabinet (DPC).

We also saw movement in several PSC executive positions, including chairperson, commissioners 
and commission chief executive (CCE). I would like to acknowledge the contribution of the former 
Chairperson and CCE.

Dave Stewart
Director-General
Department of the Premier and Cabinet



– 6 –   2014–15 Public Service Commission Annual Report

Commission Chief Executive’s message
I am pleased to deliver the PSC’s annual report for the 22014-15 financial year, as CCE (Acting).

We were fortunate over the past 12 months to play a lead role in initiatives central to the government’s 
agenda. I commend my team for the substantial contribution their efforts made towards the 
government’s vision for Queensland.

The PSC drove two initiatives fundamental to the government’s commitment to an effective and 
independent public sector. 

The first was central to leadership in the public sector, the recruitment of 18 departmental  
directors-general and equivalent executive positions, based on open merit. The independent  
selection panel, which I chaired, identified the most capable people for recommendation to the 
Queensland Premier.

The second was an independent review of statutory executive appointments, which examined  
the independence, accountability, performance measurement and appointment of these key roles  
to ensure they effectively support independent and professional leadership across Queensland’s  
public sector.

A suite of related PSC projects undertaken and now nearing completion will be integral to creating a 
framework for the public sector of the future—a strategic vision that will empower agencies with the 
capabilities and tools to make aspiration a reality. 

Development of a whole-of-government five-year workforce strategy, workforce capability success 
profile and talent management strategy (TMS) will define the capabilities and behaviours that should 
characterise a strong, effective, accountable and customer-focused public sector.

Another focus of activity for the PSC was ensuring the public sector has the most capable and effective 
leadership. We commenced projects to not only recruit talented leaders, but to retain them by providing 
opportunities that allow them to develop professionally and personally, realising their full potential.

Work to enhance the effectiveness of government agencies included the: 
• commencement of a review of the PSBA
•  introduction of the Conduct and Performance Excellence (CaPE) service to improve the way agencies 

respond to poor conduct and performance. Workshops were held across the state (14 different 
locations), reaching more than 950 HR practitioners and managers. Recognising the value of the 
workshops, the CaPE service has partnered with agencies on Knowledge Exchanges to build agency 
capability. These will continue in 2015–2016.

Interlinked projects were initiated to increase diversity, inclusiveness and gender equity across the 
public sector, at both whole-of-government and agency levels. As well as meeting a key government 
priority, this work will pave the way for a more capable, flexible and innovative workforce. Supporting 
this initiative was the revision of role descriptions and job advertisement guidelines to make applying 
for a Queensland Government job easier and more equitable. It is a key factor in positioning the 
Queensland Government as an employer of choice—a goal that will ensure we continue to attract 
candidates of the highest calibre.

This year, the PSC completed another core component of this objective, the annual survey of public 
sector employees—refer to page 18 for more information. The 2015 Working for Queensland Employee 
Opinion Survey was completed by 39 per cent of employees, providing a valuable snapshot of views that 
will assist the public sector to improve as an employer.
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Finally, the context underpinning all PSC’s activities—the strategic plan—was realigned during the year 
to the government’s priorities. At the end of the financial year, the PSC Strategic Plan 2015–2019 has 
been adopted and is driving all our planning and activities. 

Reflecting the critical role of this document, the annual report compares our activities to the PSC 
Strategic Plan 2014–2018 that was relevant to the period under review. The intention is to better 
highlight the strategic intent and impact of the initiatives, and the manner in which they supported 
government priorities.

Robert Setter
Commission Chief Executive (Acting)
Public Service Commission
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About us
The Public Service Commission (PSC) is an independent central agency of government with key 
responsibilities for workforce policy, strategy, leadership and organisational performance across the 
Queensland public sector. The PSC was established 1 July 2008 through the Public Service Act 2008.

The PSC’s policies, programs and services align with the 2015 Queensland Government Response 
to The Queensland Plan. The Government Response supports the government’s objectives for the 
community and identifies the priorities and key initiatives that will contribute towards implementing 
Queenslanders’ vision.

More information about our policies, programs and services is available throughout the annual report 
and on our website: www.psc.qld.gov.au

Our role
The PSC’s focus is to:
•  enhance the public sector’s human resource (HR) management and capability
•  foster a high performing, apolitical and impartial public sector responsive to government priorities, 

delivering services efficiently, effectively and with integrity to the Queensland community.   

It advises the Premier of Queensland on the administration of the Queensland public sector, and the 
management and employment of public sector employees.

In addition, the PSC provides strategic advice and tactical support on:
• workforce strategy
• workforce policy and legislation
•  workforce performance and capability development
• chief and senior executive recruitment and contracts.

The PSC works closely with the other central agencies—the Department of the Premier and Cabinet (DPC) 
and Queensland Treasury—and collaborates with all government agencies to enable its role.

It is developer and custodian of the government’s employment framework and ensures the 
government’s most valuable resource, our people, are supported by a framework that is modern, flexible 
and encourages high performance.

Our approach
With approximately 74 full-time equivalent employees, the PSC brings together diverse skills and 
experience. The PSC is committed to supporting a high performing public sector, and contributes to this 
agenda by being a forward thinker, strategic enabler and key advisor.

Central to the PSC’s approach is living the whole-of-government values: 

http://www.psc.qld.gov.au


– 9 –   2014–15 Public Service Commission Annual Report

Our commissioners
The PSC is guided by four commissioners, three drawn from within government and one external to 
government, that provide the vision and strategic guidance to deliver innovative solutions to public 
sector workforce and performance issues. 

The Queensland Integrity Commissioner
The Queensland Integrity Commissioner is administratively included within the PSC and is responsible 
for providing advice on integrity and ethics issues, and maintaining the Queensland Register of 
Lobbyists. The commissioner is an independent officer of the Queensland Parliament who reports at 
least twice a year to the Finance and Administration Committee. The commissioner produces their own 
annual report.

Our location
The PSC office is located at 53 Albert Street, Brisbane, Queensland.



– 10 –   2014–15 Public Service Commission Annual Report

Our strategic plan 2014–18

Our vision and purpose
For 2014–15, the PSC’s vision was to be part of a Queensland public sector that is the most responsive 
and respected in the nation.

The PSC supported the Queensland Government to be more effective, deliver value for money, and 
ultimately achieve better outcomes for Queenslanders. We did this by being a:
• forward thinker
• strategic enabler
• key advisor.

We drove workforce strategy for the Queensland Government, delivering better economic and social 
outcomes for all.

Our values
The PSC promotes the whole-of-government values: 

Steps to ensure our success
To achieve our strategic objectives, the PSC positioned itself as a strong and respected central agency. 
To ensure success, we manage our risk, by:
•  building trusted partnerships with our customers and providing them with the right service, at the 

right time
•  planning for resources to be available, and developing our staff to have the capability to achieve our 

objectives
•  enabling the development of capability across the sector in strategic workforce and organisational 

management
•  developing and implementing a robust way to measure our performance—storing and processing 

information effectively and securely.
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Our strategic objectives
Objectives Strategies Performance indicators
Objective 1— 
Build a high 
performing, 
engaged, customer-
focused workforce

• Embed the public sector values across 
government

• Drive a high performance culture across 
the public sector

• Develop leadership and management 
capability through targeted,  
high-quality development programs, 
talent management strategies, 
initiatives, engagement and  
mobility

• Build a connected and engaged 
workforce through contemporary, 
relevant approaches to communication 
and workforce management

• Position the work performance and 
conduct principles with executives 
and managers to drive service delivery 
excellence

• Influence and drive diversity and cultural 
capability across the public sector in 
partnership with lead agencies

• Percentage of executives with current 
performance and development 
agreements and assessments

• Take-up rate of the online executive 
performance software tool

• Results from the Working for Queensland 
Employee Opinion Survey, including 
trends in agency engagement and 
the ‘my manager’ and ‘organisational 
leadership’ factors

• Participant satisfaction with 
development programs brokered by PSC

• Agencies supported by the CaPE service 
report high-levels of satisfaction with the 
service

Objective 2— 
Create the most 
productive public 
sector in the nation

• Drive the public sector workforce 
strategy and implement a contemporary 
HR business model

• Lead the development and management 
of workforce strategies to support 
service delivery renewal

• Drive effective and efficient 
organisational designs and broader 
spans of control

• Streamline legislation, industrial 
instruments, directives and policies

• Implementation of strategic workforce 
plans across agencies

• Agencies are fully engaged and 
undertaking renewal activities

• Results from the Working for Queensland 
Employee Opinion Survey, including 
trends in agency engagement

• Reduced costs associated with 
absenteeism rates and public sector 
employee costs within government 
wages policy
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Objective 3— 
Be the centre 
of excellence 
for workforce 
strategy across the 
Queensland public 
sector

• Provide contemporary, strategic  
advice and expertise to ministers,  
chief executives and their  
departments

• Consolidate our position as a trusted 
advisor and strategic business partner, 
influencing and building credibility

• Position the PSC as a central agency 
and key partner to DPC and Queensland 
Treasury

• Integrate public sector workforce data 
and analytics as a strategic resource to 
drive productivity and high performance

• Identify, replicate and promote best 
practice examples of workforce 
management within and outside the 
public sector

• Ministerial and chief executive officer/
executive engagement with PSC in the 
implementation of programs/projects

• Inter-jurisdictional requests for 
partnerships with the PSC

• Agencies engage with PSC on strategic 
workforce issues and initiatives

• Data analysis informs PSC and agency 
workforce strategies
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Performance against 
strategic objectives
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Performance against strategic objectives

Objective 1 
Build a high performing, engaged,  
customer-focused workforce
A high performing public sector with a keen focus on the customer—the people of Queensland—is 
critical to the delivery of the government’s objectives for the community. 

During 2014–15, the PSC was instrumental in developing strategies and programs that will continue to 
build a capable, flexible and engaged workforce with a focus on high performance.

Developing highly capable leadership
Progress continued to be made on a suite of initiatives to equip the public sector with the most 
capable leaders at all levels, from chief executives to first time supervisors. Building the most effective 
leadership group is instrumental in driving high performance and the best possible service to the 
Queensland community.

Attracting and retaining leadership talent
Work continued on a Leadership Talent Management Strategy (LTMS) to create an integrated, whole-
of-sector approach to attracting and retaining the most capable leaders and then supporting them to 
realise their full potential.

The strategy, due for release in early 2015–16, will provide an overarching framework at the 
organisational and individual levels, drawing together a broad range of performance and capability 
development programs and initiatives.

The strategy has been developed in partnership with chief executives, executives, heads of corporate 
and chief HR officers, and external partners, and will complement agency and capability development 
strategies across government. 

Assessing leadership capability
Almost 200 executives across the public sector completed the PSC’s comprehensive Executive Capability 
Assessment and Development (ECAD) Program during 2014–15. This brings the total to almost 600 over 
the past two financial years.

ECAD offers an independent, reliable assessment of participants’ leadership capability and readiness 
for greater leadership challenges. It also provides participants with a tailored development plan. ECAD 
profiles are a key platform for the public sector’s LTMS, enabling the identification of high performing, 
high potential executives for further targeted and experiential development opportunities. 

Building on the successful foundation of ECAD, a similar program was implemented for team leaders 
and program managers during 2014–15. The Leaders Capability Assessment and Development (LCAD) 
Program was developed to provide an understanding of the leadership ‘pipeline’ to support quality 
service delivery. LCAD offers team leaders and program managers valuable insights into their leadership 
preferences and potential, resulting in a clear development plan that will help drive their potential and 
career forward.

Both the ECAD and LCAD initiatives are underpinned by the Workforce Capability Success Profile (WCSP). 
They support the LTMS by nurturing great leaders. Each capability assessment and development tool is a 
bespoke product developed collaboratively by the PSC and a specialist external sector provider selected 
for their complementary expertise.
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Performance against strategic objectives

Developing highly effective leaders
A total of 819 leaders and future leaders participated in leadership and management development 
programs, which ranged from workshops to two-year post graduate degrees. 

The three-week intensive residential Executive Fellows Program was attended by five participants, and 
five participants commenced the two-year Executive Master of Public Administration, both delivered by 
the Australia and New Zealand School of Government (ANZSOG).

The bespoke Emerging Leaders Program (ELP) and Public Sector Management Program (PSMP) were 
delivered by the Queensland University of Technology (QUT) to 350 and 153 respectively. Following 
PSMP’s redesign, QUT began delivering it nationally in 2015.

The five-day experiential learning program for current and aspiring team leaders, Practical People 
Management Matters (PPMM), was undertaken by 306 participants. It was delivered by a panel of 
providers, including AuStrategies, Australian Institute of Management, and TAFE Queensland (Brisbane).

Commencing in late 2014, PPMM underwent a comprehensive review and was relaunched in 2015 as 
the People Matters Program. The content was refreshed and aligned to the WCSP, and enhanced with a 
blended learning format that includes self-paced online learning and a shorter, three-day face-to-face 
component.

One-day extension modules on topics, such as recruitment and selection, inclusion and diversity, 
change and coaching will be made available during 2015–16.

Developed in collaboration with leading research and education institutions, PSC’s Leadership Forums 
provided executives, program managers and team leaders the opportunity to hone their leadership, 
management and service delivery. The forums, which also facilitated networking and collaboration on 
leadership issues, included:
•  16 thought leader seminars and 19 masterclasses which provided 1911 attendees with access to 

valuable expertise and insights
• five executive dialogues that allowed executive leaders to engage with expert speakers and peers
•  three seminars, coordinated by the Women in the Senior Executive (WISE) Reference Group, to 

provide development and networking opportunities for 134 executive women
•  three chief executive forums hosted by leading providers, such as ANZSOG and QUT that enabled 

chief executives from the public sector to engage and network with counterparts from the private and 
not-for-profit sectors

•  four chief executive officer leadership roundtables delivered by top national and international 
authorities in collaboration with major providers.

The PSC continued to facilitate targeted development opportunities for high potential, high performing 
leaders, focusing on its Leader Connect initiative.

Leader Connect assists participants to gain intensive, practical experience and stretch their leadership 
skills. It offers opportunities like shadowing more senior leaders, building a coaching or mentoring 
relationship with executives from another sector, and volunteering or leading a project in an unfamiliar 
organisation or industry.

This initiative will be progressed during 2015–16 with activities focusing on communicating the 
opportunities and benefits of Leader Connect to internal and external stakeholders, getting high 
potential, high performing executives on board, sourcing placements and matching placements with 
executives.
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Performance against strategic objectives

The PSC conducted a statewide leadership engagement roadshow between October and December 
2014. These Spring Leader Forums engaged public sector leaders at many levels in the significant 
cultural and operational shift occurring across the sector, and encouraged them to innovate and 
collaborate across agencies to deliver community priorities.

The interactive events allowed attendees to explore significant issues/concerns facing them as 
supervisors and managers, and to understand and mitigate any blockages around achieving success.

Participant suggestions and feedback on important topics like empowerment, workforce mobility and 
performance practice were collated and analysed by the PSC. Results were provided to each agency to 
help identify and rectify any areas for improvement in their operations.

Fifteen forums were conducted around the state, attracting the participation of more than 1200 
supervisors and managers from a range of agencies. The involvement of 16 directors-general and seven 
regional directors over the course of the roadshow emphasised the importance of this cross-government 
collaboration and development opportunity.

Driving a high performance culture
The year saw PSC launch its CaPE service, dedicated to supporting public sector managers and HR 
professionals to promote excellent conduct and high performance. 

The CaPE service provides access to systems and skills that agencies need to better manage employee 
conduct and performance. 

CaPE was launched on 1 July 2014. The PSC delivered workshops to more than 950 HR practitioners and 
leaders across the state to develop their skills in recruitment and selection, performance management, 
conducting disciplinary proceedings, and complaints management. 

CaPE continued to build capability by conducting Knowledge Exchanges programs to HR teams, enabling 
them to deliver the content within their own agencies. Workshop content was also incorporated into the 
People Matters Program as a short, practical professional development course aimed at team leaders. 

CaPE will continue to build the capability of leaders and HR teams in 2015–16, with a focus on 
recruitment and selection, and fostering high performance.

Acknowledging that employee conduct is a key measure of public sector effectiveness and 
accountability, the PSC has developed a robust framework to guide employee behaviour and 
performance. The framework is supported by tools and advice to assist leaders manage unsatisfactory 
performance and conduct in a fair and timely manner. 

To further assist agencies in this important area, the PSC is developing a standing offer arrangement 
of qualified workplace investigation service providers as well as standards for engaging and managing 
external investigations. Both will be finalised in 2015–16.

The PSC continued to work with the Crime and Corruption Commission to ensure matters were handled 
by the most appropriate agency. It also collected data from agencies in relation to unsatisfactory 
performance and conduct matters for analysis and reporting.
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Performance against strategic objectives

Promoting the Queensland Government as an employer of choice
During the financial year, significant progress was made on an initiative to support the Queensland 
public sector to attract, engage and retain high-quality workforce talent in a competitive employment 
market.

The Employee value proposition (EVP) will seek to position the Queensland Government as a unique, 
stimulating and attractive employer. It offers an integrated, whole-of-government approach to overlay 
agencies’ individual attraction and retention strategies.

This is considered critical to building a high performing public sector workforce for the future that can 
deliver quality, sustainable services to the people of Queensland.  

Benefits for the Queensland public sector include:
• building a high calibre talent pool
• rejuvenating employee engagement 
•  ensuring the ability to sustain a capable workforce to provide quality services in regional, rural and 

remote communities 
•  continuing to align the workforce with the business of government and needs of Queensland 

communities
• enhancing credibility and reputation as an employer.

The EVP brings to life the public sector’s five values. It is underpinned by the concept of a mutually 
beneficial commitment between employer and employee, and offers an opportunity to progress the 
cultural shift to constructive workplaces across the sector.

It was developed with our public sector partners as well as experts in recruitment, employee 
engagement, retention and employment branding from a range of sectors. It will be launched in  
2015–16.

Growing inclusion, diversity and equality of employment opportunity
A number of PSC initiatives were initiated to support the government’s commitment to inclusion, 
diversity and equality of employment opportunity. At its heart, inclusion and diversity is about delivering 
better services to Queenslanders—in an increasingly global and complex environment, inclusion and 
diversity provides a strategic advantage.

An Inclusion and Diversity Strategy was developed by the PSC to guide agencies in progressing their 
own strategies and policies. When released in 2015–16, it will provide a single point of reference, 
enabling agencies to embed inclusion and diversity throughout their culture, systems and processes. 
For example, it will support agencies to meet their legal obligations, and help overcome barriers to the 
recruitment, retention and development of people from diverse backgrounds. 

The strategy emphasises the ‘diversity dividend’—that promoting inclusion and diversity is not only 
the right thing to do, but allows agencies to capitalise on the widest possible range of experience, 
work styles and ways of thinking. This will positively impact performance, innovation, problem solving, 
teamwork, talent development, employee engagement, and employer reputation.

Development of the strategy involved engagement across agencies and discussions with unions. The 
PSC will continue to work in partnership with agencies to embed constructive workplace cultures that 
drives inclusion and values diversity. Implementation is supported by a sector-wide action plan and 
contemporary information, tools and research.

The PSC also developed a Gender Equity Strategy to complement the Inclusion and Diversity Strategy. 
Gender equity is about ensuring both men and women in the public sector have the same rights, 
opportunities and access to information, decision-making and influence.
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Performance against strategic objectives

The Gender Equity Strategy, which was released in 2015–16, provides a robust framework to guide public 
sector agencies in facilitating gender equity across their organisation and business. The strategy’s 
action plan focuses on three key themes:
• visible and vocal leadership
• attraction and retention
• building capability.

The Queensland Public Sector Inclusion Champions of Change (QPSICC) group will be a key driver of 
gender equity across the sector. The group met three times during the financial year and proposed the 
top three priorities as:
• building strong leadership commitment 
• talent mapping and a targeted approach to recruitment
• talent development and succession planning.

The QPSICC is supported by Implementation Leads who meet regularly to discuss potential initiatives 
and share ideas that work.

Embedding public sector values
Work began on a whole-of-government induction module to help new starters become more integrated 
in their workplace and embrace the public sector’s high performance culture.

The online module, due for release before the end of the 2015–16 financial year, provides new starters 
with a powerful overview of public sector values and work ethic, and an understanding of their 
obligations and key employment concepts. A key objective is to help them feel they have made the right 
decision and motivate them to begin their job committed, engaged and productive.

The PSC has established a reference group, which includes departmental representatives, to ensure the 
induction module meets the needs of agencies. The goal is to make the module engaging, easy-to-use 
and compatible with agency-specific material.

The PSC continued to support efforts to embed the five public sector values and build a workplace 
culture that will facilitate the government’s objectives for service provision excellence. 

All PSC activities emphasised the values being ‘business-as-usual’, something to be lived by every 
employee every day. Leadership programs highlighted the responsibility of leaders to role model these 
values, in particular promoting quality, inclusion, diversity, creativity and collaboration within their 
teams.

Enhancing engagement and two-way communication
To be high performing, public sector employees need to be engaged in their work and committed to 
a shared vision of the public sector capable of delivering government priorities. Effective two-way 
communication between employees and leaders is critical to achieving this.

The results of the annual Working for Queensland Employee Opinion Survey contributed valuable 
insights towards ongoing development of the public sector as a place to work. Results are critical in 
driving positive workplace and cultural change.
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Performance against strategic objectives

More than 90,000 people, or 42 per cent of the public sector, participated in the 2014 survey. It provided 
a rich snapshot of views on issues like leadership, workplace conditions, learning and development, 
employee engagement and job satisfaction. The results:
• showed improvement across all workplace factors
• revealed that employees are more positive about their jobs and are more ‘engaged’
• showed that higher engagement is the result of stronger leadership
•  identified workload and health, workplace fairness and organisational trust as areas for 

improvement. 

The PSC’s focus on capability development and talent management was a direct result of survey 
feedback and a key factor in the significant improvement in employee engagement and perceptions of 
leaders. Agencies also had action plans in place to address key survey findings.

Results from the 2015 survey, formally released after the end of the 2014–15 financial year, will show the 
level of employee engagement has increased, and that employee perceptions of leaders, performance 
assessment, organisational trust and innovation have also improved. This survey achieved a response 
rate of 39 per cent.

The survey results will be a vital input into preparation of the biennial 2015 State of the Sector Report, on 
the characteristics, values, achievements and challenges of the Queensland public sector. The 2015–16 
financial year will also see refinement of the survey questionnaire to ensure it continues to yield relevant 
and valid data.

In keeping with the ‘one government’ approach, the PSC developed the first whole-of-government, 
mobile-optimised email facility in collaboration with the Office of the Chief Information Officer, as well 
as support from staff at DPC and CITEC. The email platform is an effective and efficient medium for 
communicating important information to all 230,000 plus Queensland Government employees.

Since its launch in February 2015, the email facility has delivered vital information to employees, 
including a safety message about Tropical Cyclone Marcia and information from the Premier about 
employment security for public servants. The project is an excellent example of cross-government 
collaboration, and represents a key channel to communicate with the Queensland public sector.
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Objective 2 
Create the most productive public sector in  
the nation
During 2014–15, the PSC focused on developing not only a high performing, but also a highly productive 
public sector by defining the qualities of the model workforce, and developing strategies and tools 
required to achieve this ideal over the next five years.

Defining the workforce of the future
The WCSP was created to provide a sector-wide, one-government view of the leadership behaviours 
expected of employees in high performing workplaces. The WCSP was developed from international best 
practice approaches to capability building.

Based on five core principles, the profile defines expectations in terms of vision, results and 
accountability. It outlines the behavioural indicators of individual contributors, team leaders, program 
managers and executives, reflecting the changing balance of technical, managerial and leadership 
competencies as employees transition through their careers.

This contemporary approach allows agencies to look at each role according to the value it delivers rather 
than its position in the hierarchy.

The profile forms part of a broader approach to talent management, underpinning the Queensland 
public sector executive leadership competencies that have proven a strong base for executive 
recruitment, development and performance management. 

It can complement discipline capability development strategies and frameworks to identify pathways for 
building capability. 

Designing the workforce of the future
The PSC continued to support agencies to develop and implement their five-year strategic workforce 
plans, ensuring alignment with the forthcoming sector-wide workforce strategy. These plans are an 
essential part of agencies’ operations, ensuring they build a workforce with the capability and capacity 
to deliver government objectives.

Online material was updated, and one-on-one support provided. Strategic workforce planning 
workshops held in April and May 2015 were attended by more than 100 HR professionals from a cross-
section of agencies. Feedback indicated the workshops were informative and useful, with 93 per cent of 
participants indicating they would use or adapt the ideas presented.

The PSC developed the Queensland Public Sector Strategic Workforce Planning Maturity Index to enable 
agencies to assess the organisational and workplace capability they will require to meet government 
and community needs, and identify areas for development.

A central resource was established to allow agencies to share information, tools and resources to 
support continued capability building across the public sector.
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Supporting best practice human resources
The PSC identified the need to lift the calibre and focus of HR services to a more strategic level to better 
support the achievement of organisational strategy and increase performance. 

The PSC partnered with Davidson HR Consulting to develop and deliver the Strategic Human Resource-
Capability Assessment and Development (SHR-CAD) initiative which encompasses:
•  a best-practice, fit-for-purpose strategic HR competency framework which was developed based on 

academic research and extensive consultation with chief executives, heads of corporate and chief HR 
officers

•  an assessment of capability through multi-rater feedback (self, supervisor and up to eight customers) 
on effectiveness and importance

• individual skills audit
• individual reporting and development planning
• aggregated and benchmarked reports.

The SHR-CAD initiative has:
•  identified the profile of a highly effective strategic HR professional, which will inform recruitment, 

selection, development and talent management strategies
•  provided a clear benchmark of strategic HR effectiveness and development for ongoing measurement
• supported individuals and HR teams to ensure service delivery best meets their customers’ priorities.

A total of 419 HR practitioners were invited to complete the strategic HR capability assessment. Of those, 
398 fully completed the survey along with 378 supervisors, and 1668 customers (2077 overall raters) 
across all government departments. Overall, 2475 (participants and raters) participated in the SHR-CAD 
initiative, providing more than 260,000 data points.

NP: work is now underway to develop and deliver a strategic HR capacity development strategy across 
the public sector.

Facilitating effective recruitment
Building the best possible workforce begins with attracting the right people to the right roles.  
The PSC developed a suite of materials to assist agencies conduct effective recruitment.  
A key objective was attracting talented applicants from non-government sectors as well as the public 
sector by making applying for a Queensland Government job easier and more equitable.

Instructive guides were developed for the critical front end of the process: writing a role analysis and 
job description, and writing and placing a job advertisement. The guides comprise easy-to-follow 
instructions, templates and best-practice examples.

The PSC partnered with a representative group of agencies to ensure the guides would support agency 
workforce plans as well as the five-year whole-of-government workforce strategy.

With intense competition for talented graduates, especially from large private sector firms, the PSC’s 
Graduate Portal remained an important tool for positioning the Queensland public sector as an 
employer of choice with tertiary university students. 

The portal offers a single entry point for graduate applications and also generates significant efficiencies 
and cost savings at a whole-of-sector level. During 2014–15, 6348 eligible applications from graduates 
were received. 
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Creating modern, flexible workplaces
The PSC contributed to the formulation of the Queensland Government’s response to the report into 
domestic and family violence Not Now, Not Ever. Recommendations for action were based on the 
principle that the government, as the state’s largest employer, must not only take the lead in having an 
inclusive and diverse workplace culture, but in supporting employees who are affected by domestic and 
family violence.

In addition, in 2015–16, the PSC will develop tools and resources to:
• raise awareness in the workplace of domestic and family violence 
• support agencies to continue to develop supportive and inclusive workplace cultures 
•  ensure managers and supervisors can support employees who may be victims of domestic and  

family violence.

Information resources will be made available to help employees who have suffered family violence to 
seek financial, accommodation, personal safety, counselling assistance, and for perpetrators to seek 
help to change behaviour.

With social media now a business essential that offers agencies greater opportunity for customer 
interaction, community engagement and service delivery, the PSC continued to work with the public 
sector to develop an appropriate policy framework.

The goal is supporting agencies to optimise their use of social media to meet service and business 
objectives, while adequately considering resourcing and technology impacts. This included ensuring 
staff are aware of their obligations regarding the efficient and appropriate use of social media.

Industrial relations
In March 2015, the PSC’s IR function was transferred to the Office of Fair and Safe Work Queensland 
(OFSWQ) within the Department of Justice and the Attorney-General (JAG). The IR function was then 
transferred (1 July 2015) to Queensland Treasury.
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Objective 3 
Be the centre of excellence for workforce strategy 
across the Queensland public sector
The provision of quality strategic advice to ministers, chief executives and their agencies during 2014–15 
consolidated the PSC’s position as a trusted advisor to government in the areas of workforce strategy, 
HR and recruitment. 

The PSC offered expertise and advice to agencies across the public sector and continued to work in 
partnership with key strategic stakeholders—DPC and Queensland Treasury.

Strengthening Westminster principles
The PSC’s expertise in best practice recruitment, provision of quality, independent advice, and 
experience in delivering standalone projects led to a commission from the government to complete two 
priority projects. 

The merit-based recruitment of directors-general and the review of statutory chief executive positions 
were critical to the government’s pre-election commitment to the Westminster principles of government 
that respect the separation of powers and support a professional public sector that provides frank, 
impartial advice to government. They also aligned with the Public Service Act 2008 which supports a 
diverse, skilled public sector workforce, drawn from the government and non-government sectors.

Merit-based directors-general recruitment
The DG recruitment project was aimed at ensuring an open, transparent, merit-based selection process 
to identify chief executives best suited to deliver high-quality, value-added services to the people 
of Queensland. The appointments of 16 DGs were announced in May, June and July 2015, with the 
remaining two to be appointed in September 2015.

The recruitment process was undertaken by the PSC in partnership with Chandler Macleod, an executive 
recruitment specialist with demonstrated experience in the public sector and an understanding of the 
benefits of a diverse workforce.

The selection panel was chaired by the PSC CCE (Acting) Robert Setter and included members 
independent of government: 
• Lynelle Briggs AO, former Public Service Commissioner, Australian Public Service
•  Jim Hallion, Coordinator-General, Department of Planning, Transport and Infrastructure  

(South Australia). 

The panel offered a breadth of experience and depth of expertise in chief executive-level governance 
of public sector central agencies and portfolio service delivery reflective of the DG positions to be 
filled. Some 350 applications were received and 54 candidates were interviewed. The panel made 
recommendations on appointments to the Premier, who, in accordance with the Public Service Act 2008, 
sought Governor in Council approval for the appointments.

The PSC also managed the open, merit-based selection process for the position of Commissioner, 
Queensland Fire and Emergency Services. The selection panel was again chaired by the PSC CCE (Acting) 
and included: 
• Greg Mullins AFSM, Commissioner, Fire and Rescue NSW
• Brigadier Dianne Gallasch AM, CSC, Commandant, Royal Military College Australia. 
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This panel brought a combination of senior executive leadership, and significant operational and 
emergency management experience reflective of the role to be filled. Forty-seven applications were 
received and four candidates were interviewed. The appointment was announced on 5 June 2015.

The DG recruitment project delivered a strong, experienced and diverse executive team to lead the 
230,000 plus public servants in Queensland. The executive team will also ensure good governance, 
financial accountability and the delivery of services and programs that contribute to the building of a 
strong and sustainable social and economic future for our state.

A critical, complementary project developed a contemporary chief executive employment contract for 
DGs of departments appointed under the Public Service Act 2008. The contract enshrines a focus on 
executive performance and reinforces the critical leadership role of chief executives.

It implements the government’s policy of removing performance payments from chief executives’ 
remuneration packages and supports the objective of enhanced public sector integrity and transparency 
by authorising their statements of interests to be published.

Statutory appointments review
The PSC undertook a review of the approximately 70 chief executive and equivalent statutory positions 
across government. Andrew Chesterman led the project.

The review evaluated the appointment frameworks, accountability, independence and performance 
mechanisms within the context of the Westminster system of government. Developing an operating 
model which outlines the relationships necessary between ministers, DGs and statutory authority 
leaders was also a focus of the review. 

The incumbent holders of these positions were invited to DGs to contribute to the review.

Public Safety Business Agency Review
The PSC was appointed to lead an independent review of the PSBA, which provides corporate and 
support services to public safety portfolio agencies. The report will make recommendations to the 
Minister for Police, Fire and Emergency Services to ensure effective corporate support for public safety 
agencies and transparency on critical corporate decisions.

The review is considering:
•  the PSBA business model, including organisational design, governance and performance 

measurement to determine alignment with government priorities
•  the effectiveness of PSBA functions in contributing to public safety outcomes, by enabling client 

agencies to focus on operational matters
•  the PSBA’s role in providing governance and accountability to decision-making for the public safety 

portfolio. 

The PSC CCE (Acting) is chairing the steering committee, which also comprises the DG DPC, the 
Commissioners of Police, and Fire and Emergency Services, the Chief Executive Officer of PSBA and the 
DG of Energy and Water Supply. 

The committee is expected to deliver a final report to the Minister for Police, Fire and Emergency Services 
in late 2015.
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Transferring skills and knowledge
Best practice HR and IR advice was provided to agencies to empower them to make the best decisions 
regarding employees.

Providing independent expert advice
The PSC responded to 981 requests for assistance from across the public sector, many to clarify the 
legislation, awards, agreements, directives, policies and guidelines that govern employees’ pay, 
entitlements and working conditions.

Additionally, strategic advice and expertise was provided on:
• ethical standards [refer to Promoting ethics and accountability] and legal issues
• executive recruitment, remuneration, contract management, appointment and induction
• machinery-of-government arrangements
• whole-of-government workforce matters.

The timely communication of priority workforce matters to chief executive officer-level executives was 
conducted via a concise fortnightly e-Communiqué. Seventeen regular and three special editions of the 
e-Communiqué were issued during 2014–15.

A similar publication was introduced to keep agencies’ chief HR officers abreast of critical issues. Eleven 
monthly and two special editions of the CHRO Communiqué were issued during 2014–15.

A guide was created to assist teams tasked with establishing new government agencies, or restructuring 
existing ones. This will help ensure Queensland has the most effective service delivery arrangements. 
The Guide to Establishing Queensland Government Entities provides an easy-to-follow, yet robust 
framework to direct this complex and often intimidating process.

The guide contains a decision-making framework to ensure a consistent approach to selecting the most 
appropriate entity for the intended function—line department, public service office, statutory authority 
or government-owned corporation. It outlines the steps required to establish each of these entities, and 
discusses issues like governance structures, employment policies, financial accountability and ethical 
frameworks that need to be considered.

Analysing workforce data
Valuable workforce data was analysed to inform the development of two key reports:
•  employment data on senior public servants was used to develop the report Leadership in the 

Queensland public sector: profile, perceptions and achievement of priorities in 2013–14
•  Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) data was analysed for the document Inclusion and diversity in 

the Queensland public sector 2014: Agency Equality of Employment Opportunity (EEO) census data as 
at June 2014.

The PSC also supplied long-term datasets, including:
• the annual Workforce Characteristics Report
• quarterly workforce profile reports
• workforce data and related advice to inform agencies’ workforce strategy and initiatives.

Technology upgrades initiated in 2014–5 will improve the efficiency of future analysis and reporting 
processes. The 2015–16 financial year will see the PSC partner with the Queensland Government Chief 
Information Office to explore information technology-enabled data collection and reporting solutions, to 
ensure the workforce data provided to government remains relevant and timely.

Over the coming year, the PSC will continue to engage with stakeholders to implement the guide and 
provide advice to agencies.
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Promoting ethics and accountability
As custodian of the Public Service Act 2008 and the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, the PSC conducted 
a number of projects that contributed towards improving and promoting accountability and ethical 
behaviour in the public sector.

The PSC completed a statutory review of the Code of Conduct, which defines expected standards of 
behaviour for employees, contractors and other people working for public sector agencies. The PSC is 
charged with considering requests from public sector agencies to apply additional standards of conduct 
and behaviour to people working for them. No new standards were issued during the year.

The PSC reviewed the regulations supporting the two Acts.

The Public Sector Ethics Regulation 2010 was amended to apply the Code of Conduct for the Queensland 
public sector to a number of state government boards and committees. This ensures they have an 
appropriate framework for ethical decision making and conduct.

The Public Service Regulation 2008 was also reviewed, in consultation with relevant agencies, to ensure 
it continues to offer a consistent, sector-wide approach to employee management and conduct.

The PSC advised agencies in response to 130 ethics enquiries received during 2014–15, primarily in 
regard to the Code of Conduct, public complaints, gifts and benefits, and conflicts of interest.
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Looking forward 2015–16
PSC activities in 2015–16 will focus on consolidating the solid foundations established during 2014–15 
in aligning its structure and services to government priorities.

The PSC Strategic Plan 2015–2019 underlines our commitment to achieving the government’s objectives 
for the community by building and supporting a highly capable and professional workforce that is 
underpinned by integrity, impartiality, accountability and consultation.

Our stated purpose is to drive community-focused workforce strategies to deliver better outcomes for 
the community, by being a:
• forward thinker
• strategic enabler
• key advisor.

In pursuit of this undertaking, the PSC Strategic Plan 2015–2019 is built on key broad objectives:
• a high performing, engaged, service-focused workforce
• a professional and productive public sector to serve the government and the community
• a provider of quality advice and trusted intelligence on contemporary HR matters.

During 2015–16, we will:
•  deliver and consolidate a new recruitment and selection framework for chief and senior executive 

service officers founded on merit, integrity and accountability
• deliver a high-quality induction and development program for new chief executive officers
• lead the implementation of Cabinet approved recommendations of the review of statutory appointees
•  finalise an independent review of the PSBA, in line with the government’s commitment, to ensure 

public safety sector delivery to the community is accountable, efficient and effective
•  finalise a review of the Public Service Act 2008, including amendments to better embed and support 

an independent public sector that operates with integrity and accountability and in line with 
Westminster principles

•  review the PSC operating model, in line with Public Service Act 2008 amendments, to ensure the PSC 
is strategically aligned and operating optimally

•  deliver and lead the implementation of a contemporary five-year sector-wide workforce strategy that 
will position the Queensland public sector more strongly for the future

•  enable greater inclusion and diversity across the public sector through the implementation of a 
sector-wide Inclusion and Diversity Strategy and Gender Equity Strategy

•  implement an integrated LTMS to support the attraction, leadership development and retention of 
high calibre leaders across the public sector

•  develop and implement a strategy to build strategic and tactical HR capability across the public 
sector

•  partner with agencies to develop innovative service delivery solutions which align with community 
needs

•  develop and release the 2015 State of the Sector Report, a biennial publication which sets out the 
vision, characteristics, achievements and future challenges for the Queensland public sector

•  deliver the 2016 Working for Queensland Employee Opinion Survey to monitor workplace climate and 
support continuous improvement across the sector.
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Governance
The PSC’s corporate governance framework is geared towards high performance service delivery.  
The framework ensures the PSC:
• meets statutory responsibilities under the Public Service Act 2008 and other legislation
• enhances service delivery through an ongoing quality improvement program
• effectively and efficiently manages and reports on performance
• integrates risk management into organisational activity.

A range of internal and external accountability measures, ensures the PSC conducts business with 
integrity and transparency.

External accountability measures
The PSC employs a range of measures to ensure it fully meets its commission and fulfils the 
government’s focus on service quality and accountability.

Measure Purpose
Public Service Commission Independent advisory board to the Queensland Government on strategic 

matters concerning public sector management, development and reform.

External audit conducted by the 
Queensland Audit Office

Ensures compliance with financial management requirements.

Right to information and 
information privacy legislation

Ensures processes are in place for providing the public with access to 
documents and for safeguarding the privacy of personal information.

Public Service Act 2008 Ensures the public sector’s organisational and HR management and 
capability is effective and enhanced.

Annual report Reports on all significant activities undertaken each financial year.

Open data Ensures Queensland Government data is accessible through a single, 
searchable portal.

Public Service Commissioners
The strategic direction and activities of the PSC are guided by four commissioners.

The chairperson plays an independent advisory role to the Queensland Government, monitoring, 
reviewing and providing strategic advice on the management of the public sector.

The Chairperson of the PSC, Dr Doug McTaggart, resigned from this position on 18 February 2015.  
DPC DG Dave Stewart is acting Chair of the PSC, while a review is undertaken of its operating model.

As at 30 June 2015, the commissioners were:
• DG DPC Dave Stewart (Acting Chair)
• Under Treasurer Jim Murphy
• PSC Chief Executive (Acting) Robert Setter.
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External audit
The PSC is audited by the Queensland Audit Office (QAO). The QAO’s audit report and certificate are 
in the Financial Statements of this annual report. The Auditor-General’s delegate has certified without 
qualification that the PSC has complied with financial management requirements, and that the financial 
statements are accurate and fair. The PSC met the statutory timeframes for the preparation of the 
financial reports for 2014–15.

Right to information and information privacy
The PSC fully complied with the Right to Information Act 2009 and the Information Privacy Act 2009. 

The Right to Information Act 2009 provides access to information held by the government, unless it is 
contrary to the public interest. 

The Information Privacy Act 2009 has two objectives:
1. The fair collection and handling of personal information in the public sector environment.
2.  A right of access to, and amendment of, personal information in the government’s possession or 

under the government’s control, unless it is contrary to the public interest.

Over the period under review, the PSC received 10 Right to Information applications and seven 
Information Privacy applications. A total of $433.50 in application fees and $616.40 in processing fees 
was collected.

Annual report

The PSC annual report is one of the key vehicles used to report on activities to stakeholders, including 
the broader public sector and the community. The 2013–14 Public Service Commission Annual Report 
was tabled in Parliament on 29 September 2014 by the Premier of Queensland.

Open data

The PSC supported the government’s commitment to making data accessible through a single, 
searchable portal.

The PSC contributed the following data sets to the open data initiative during 2014–15:
• Queensland Public Service quarterly workforce profile data
• 2014 Working for Queensland Employee Opinion Survey results
• list of certified agreements and their expiry dates
• Queensland public service executive profile data
• 2013 equal employment opportunity data.

These data sets will continue to be updated on open data during 2015–16.

Information about consultancies is available on the Queensland Government Open Data website  
(www.qld.gov.au/data).

http://www.qld.gov.au/data
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Internal accountability measures
A range of internal accountability measures ensures the PSC is high performing, transparent and 
compliant with statutory requirements.

Measure Purpose
Executive Management Group 
(EMG)

Develops corporate plans and ensures performance satisfies PSC strategic 
priorities and statutory responsibilities.

Senior Leadership Team (SLT) Implements corporate plans and shares information to ensure the PSC 
operates efficiently and effectively.

DPC/PSC Audit and Risk 
Management Committee (ARMC)

Provides independent assurance and advice to the PSC CCE on:
• risk, control and compliance frameworks
•  external accountability responsibilities as prescribed in the Financial 

Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial Accountability Regulation 2009.

Internal audit Conducts independent reviews and evaluations of PSC management 
functions and reports the findings and recommendations to the PSC CCE.

Executive Management Group

As the primary decision-making body for the PSC, the EMG guides strategic priorities and ensures PSC’s 
performance satisfies strategic and statutory responsibilities. Members meet weekly to discuss strategic 
and operational issues.

As at 30 June 2015, the EMG comprised:
• Commission Chief Executive (Acting)
• Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Strategy and Performance
• Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Renewal and Operations
• Assistant Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Policy and Legal
• Director, PSC, Communication and Engagement
• Executive Consultant and Co-Lead (Acting), Community Insights.

Senior Leadership Team

The SLT supports the EMG to implement plans and share information to ensure the PSC operates 
efficiently and effectively. The SLT meets monthly and comprises:
• Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Strategy and Performance
• Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Renewal and Operations
• Assistant Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Policy and Legal
• Executive Consultant and Co-Lead (Acting), Community Insights
• Executive Director, Industrial and Employee Relations (until March 2015)
• Executive Director, Performance and Capability Development
• Executive Director, Workforce Strategy
• Executive Director, Executive Recruitment and Contracts
• Director, Business Services
• Director, Workforce Policy and Legal
• Director, Workforce Strategy
• Project Director, Queensland’s Workforce Strategy
• Directors, Performance and Capability Development
• Director, Performance Analytics
• Director, PSC, Communication and Engagement.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee

The joint DPC/PSC ARMC supports the PSC’s risk, control and compliance frameworks to ensure it meets 
its external accountability responsibilities.

During 2014–15, the ARMC observed the terms of its charter with due regard to Queensland Treasury’s 
Audit Committee Guidelines, issued in 2012.

Role of the committee 

The role of the ARMC is to provide independent assurance and assistance to the CCE PSC, as the 
accountable officer, on: 
• risk management, internal control and compliance frameworks
• financial statements
• internal audit and external audit matters
• performance management.

The committee does not replace or replicate established management responsibilities and delegations, 
the responsibilities of other executive management team members, or the reporting lines and 
responsibilities of either internal or external audit functions.

Committee responsibilities 

The ARMC is directly responsible to the accountable officer. In discharging its responsibilities, the ARMC 
has the authority to:
• conduct or authorise investigations/audits into matters within its scope of responsibility
• access information, records and personnel for such purpose
• request the attendance of any employee, including executive staff, at ARMC meetings
• conduct meetings with internal and external auditors, as necessary
• seek advice from external parties, as necessary.

Meetings 

In accordance with its terms of reference, the ARMC convened four times during 2014–15. 

Membership

The ARMC comprises:
• Jenny Parker, Chairperson
• Neil Jackson, Independent Member
• Sonia Cooper, Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Strategy and Performance, PSC
• Pat Vidgen, Chief Operating Officer, DPC.

Internal audit

Deloitte Australia conducts the PSC’s internal audit under a service level agreement. Deloitte meets with 
the ARMC to establish a schedule of activities for examination. The PSC provides the schedule to the 
QAO to use for its annual external audit of the PSC.
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Performance
Consistent with its leadership role in supporting a high-performing public sector, the PSC has 
implemented systems to ensure it can accurately measure and continuously improve its own 
performance.

Service standards
The PSC has one agency service area—provision of services for a high performing public sector—against 
which its performance is measured.

Taking into account the recommendations from the Queensland Auditor-General’s Report No. 18 2013–14 
Monitoring and Reporting Performance, the PSC undertook an extensive review of our service standards, 
with the following effect:

Service standards Notes 2014–15 
target/ 
estimate

2014–15 
estimated 
actual

2014–15 actual

Enterprise arrangements where 
employee costs are contained 
with government wages policy

90% 100% Machinery-of-government 
change to JAG

Participant satisfaction with 
development programs brokered 
by the PSC

1 80% 91.4% Discontinued measure

Percentage of agencies that have 
implemented the Queensland 
public sector executive staffing 
structure within the approved 
time period

2 95% 90% Discontinued measure

Notes:
1.  This measure has been discontinued. A new measure Overall participant satisfaction with PSC leadership 

development offerings has been introduced in the Service Delivery Statement.
2.  This measure has been discontinued as the executive staffing structure program is no longer delivered.

During 2014–15, the review of our service standards has led to the development of seven new 
contemporary service standards which best reflect the direction and work undertaken by the PSC. These 
new service standards can be located at: http://budget.qld.gov.au/budget-papers/bp5.php 

Workplace efficiency and effectiveness
The PSC leveraged operational efficiencies by continuing its shared service agreement with DPC. 
Corporate functions, including finance, HR, information technology and record-keeping services were 
supplied by DPC, Queensland Shared Services and a third-party information and communications 
technology provider. Monthly meetings were held between the PSC and DPC at deputy commissioner 
and executive director level to discuss shared corporate service issues and initiatives.

Capitalising on the establishment of Wi-Fi throughout the PSC workspace in the previous financial year, 
desktop PCs were replaced with mobile devices. All staff were issued with their own personalised tablets 
to improve work efficiency and flexibility, and allow them to contribute towards a ‘paper-lite’ workplace. 

http://budget.qld.gov.au/budget-papers/bp5.php


– 34 –   2014–15 Public Service Commission Annual Report

Capability and accountability

The Paper-lite strategy adopted by the PSC will reduce costs and wastage of natural resources. Paper-lite 
encourages less printing through increased use of mobile technology, as well as raising staff awareness 
of the amount of printing they undertake.

Ongoing use of electronic records management system—TRIM—also contributed to this strategy, as well 
as ensuring PSC compliance in managing public records. All incoming staff were trained in TRIM and 
a dedicated helpdesk offered refresher courses as well as day-to-day support to PSC teams. The PSC 
managed its records in accordance with its compliant Retention and disposal schedule (QDAN 662).

To ensure value for money to the Queensland community, the PSC continued to use the State 
Purchasing Policy. This ensured fit-for-purpose goods and services were procured within a framework of 
transparency, probity and accountability.

Preparation continued for the relocation of the PSC to 1 William Street, Brisbane, expected to occur in 
mid-2016.
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People
The 2014–15 financial year provided opportunities for the PSC to demonstrate a leadership role to the 
public sector by implementing best practice people management initiatives in its own operations, as it 
worked to align its structure and capabilities to government priorities.

Aligning structure to government priorities
Following the Queensland State election on 31 January 2015, the incoming government implemented 
changes to the functions of the PSC to most effectively position it to contribute towards its agenda for 
the Queensland community.

Effective from 1 March 2015, the IR function was transferred from the PSC to OFSWQ within JAG, and then 
transferred, effective from 1 July 2015, to Queensland Treasury.

Effective from 1 July, 2015, the PSC is responsible for the First Project (now known as Community Insights) 
which was transferred from DPC. The First Project will report directly to the PSC CCE. 

The structural changes are summarised in the following table and diagram.

Organisational unit Transferred to/from
Industrial Relations to JAG

First Project from DPC

16 February 2015
Machinery-of-government changes

Annual report for the period ending 30 June 2015 (CONTINUING DEPARTMENT)

Public Service Commission

July
2014 2015

Aug Sept Oct July Aug OctNov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

Public Sector Industral Relations (to JAG)
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Building our workforce

Workforce profile
The PSC lives its advocacy of the government’s commitment to a more diverse and inclusive public 
sector workforce through its own operations. PSC employees come from diverse backgrounds and 
bring with them a wide range of skills, knowledge and experience. The PSC remains dedicated to its 
employees, and provides a fair and productive work environment that contributes to a positive work-life 
balance.

The machinery-of-government changes saw a further contraction in PSC staff numbers. As at  
30 June 2015, PSC had 74 full-time equivalent employees compared with 87 employees at the same time 
the previous year. The employee separation rate was 7.36 per cent. 

There were no voluntary redundancies or retrenchments during 2014–15.

Five-year workforce planning
In parallel with its core role in assisting public sector agencies to build workforce capability, the PSC 
began implementing its own five-year workforce plan. The plan will ensure the PSC has the capability 
and capacity to support the government’s priorities. It includes targets to facilitate:
• 50 per cent of executive roles being held by women
• 50 per cent of identified emerging leaders being women
• strategic alliances and partnerships with universities, industry and professional groups
• interchanges with industry and other government sectors
• increased levels of mobility, including lateral moves and promotions
• greater focus on succession planning and management
• promotion of good worker health and working habits
• a clear sense of culture, purpose and vision.

Recognising employee achievement
The PSC understands the vital role of employee recognition in encouraging and rewarding high 
performance and, ultimately its contribution towards customer service excellence. The primary vehicle 
for employee recognition is the Premier’s Achievement Awards, which acknowledge outstanding 
achievements by employees from agencies within the Premier’s portfolio.

A number of PSC individuals and teams were acknowledged in the 2014 Achievement Awards.

Winners
• Whole-of-government culture and values renewal (Excellence in leadership)
• Legal support and liability protection for employees (Integrity and accountability) 

Highly commended
• Legislation for innovative industrial relations reforms (Customer focus) 
• 2013 Working for Queensland Employee Opinion Survey (Integrity and accountability)
• ECAD (Excellence in leadership)
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Capability and accountability

Integrity
Consistent with its role as custodian of the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, the PSC strives to achieve the 
highest standards of integrity and accountability in its own operations.

The Code of Conduct for the Queensland public sector applies to agencies, their employees and other 
people working for Queensland public sector agencies, providing a consistent set of expectations on 
appropriate conduct.

The PSC continued to endorse and apply the Code of Conduct during 2014–15, ensuring information 
about its application is readily available to all employees. The PSC incorporates education about 
conduct expectations as part of our ongoing cycle of staff performance and development.

Along with the whole-of-government public sector values, the Code of Conduct is a key input into the 
development and application of PSC procedures and practices, including strategic and workforce 
planning.
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Financial summary 2014–15
The financial summary provides an overview of the PSC’s financial performance for 2014–15.  A detailed 
report of the PSC’s financial performance is included in the financials section of this annual report.

In accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Chief Finance Officer has provided the 
PSC CCE with a statement that the department’s financial internal controls are operating efficiently, 
effectively and economically.

PSC continues its commitment towards maintaining fiscal responsibility as part of its objective to deliver 
outcomes of the highest quality.

The PSC’s primary source of revenue is appropriation revenue for services received from Queensland 
Treasury. PSC also derives revenue from grants and contributions received from other Queensland 
Government departments and other state jurisdictions for the provision of workforce reporting services.

Comparison between actual results for 2014–15 and 2013–14

Income
Service revenue has decreased by $6.047 million or 27 per cent primarily due to the effect of machinery-
of-government transfers from the PSC for the IR Division, part year effect for the transfer of Public Sector 
Renewal Division to DPC in 2013–14, the completion of temporary projects, such as Corporate Services 
Renewal Taskforce and Cultural and Values, and the deferral of project funding to 2015–16. 

Grants and other contributions have increased due to billing of tri-ennial contributions from Queensland 
Government departments for workforce reporting services provided by the PSC. 

Financial	  summary	  2014–15	  

The	  financial	  summary	  provides	  an	  overview	  of	  the	  PSC’s	  financial	  performance	  for	  2014–15.	  	  A	  
detailed	  report	  of	  the	  PSC’s	  financial	  performance	  is	  included	  in	  the	  financials	  section	  of	  this	  annual	  
report.	  

In	  accordance	  with	  the	  Financial	  Accountability	  Act	  2009,	  the	  Chief	  Finance	  Officer	  has	  provided	  the	  
PSC	  CCE	  with	  a	  statement	  that	  the	  department’s	  financial	  internal	  controls	  are	  operating	  efficiently,	  
effectively	  and	  economically.	  

PSC	  continues	  its	  commitment	  towards	  maintaining	  fiscal	  responsibility	  as	  part	  of	  its	  objective	  to	  
deliver	  outcomes	  of	  the	  highest	  quality.	  

The	  PSC’s	  primary	  source	  of	  revenue	  is	  appropriation	  revenue	  for	  services	  received	  from	  Queensland	  
Treasury.	  PSC	  also	  derives	  revenue	  from	  grants	  and	  contributions	  received	  from	  other	  Queensland	  
Government	  departments	  and	  other	  state	  jurisdictions	  for	  the	  provision	  of	  workforce	  reporting	  
services.	  

Comparison	  between	  actual	  results	  for	  2014–15	  and	  2013–14	  

Public Service Commission Actual 2014–15 
$'000

Actual 2013–14 
$'000

Variance 
$'000

Income from continuing operations

Departmental services revenue 16,589 22,636 (6,047) 
User charges 172 162 10 
Grants and other contributions 417 236 181 
Other revenue 2 184 (182) 

Total income from continuing operations 17,180 23,218 (6,038) 

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee expenses 10,466 12,948 (2,482) 
Supplies and services 6,210 10,018 (3,808) 
Depreciation and amortisation 185 185 - 
Other expenses 319 94 225 

Total expenses from continuing operations 17,180 23,245 (6,065) 

Operating result from continuing operations - (27) (27) 

Income	  

Service	  revenue	  has	  decreased	  by	  $6.047	  million	  or	  27	  per	  cent	  primarily	  due	  to	  the	  effect	  of	  
machinery-‐of-‐government	  transfers	  from	  the	  PSC	  for	  the	  IR	  division,	  part	  year	  effect	  for	  the	  transfer	  
of	  Public	  Sector	  Renewal	  Division	  to	  DPC	  in	  2013–14,	  the	  completion	  of	  temporary	  projects,	  such	  as	  
Corporate	  Services	  Renewal	  Taskforce	  and	  Cultural	  and	  Values,	  and	  the	  deferral	  of	  project	  funding	  to	  
2015–16.	  	  

Grants	  and	  other	  contributions	  have	  increased	  due	  to	  billing	  of	  tri-‐ennial	  contributions	  from	  
Queensland	  Government	  departments	  for	  workforce	  reporting	  services	  provided	  by	  the	  PSC.	  
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Expenditure

Expenditure has decreased $6.065 million or 26 per cent due to the reduction in employee costs 
associated with the machinery-of-government transfers. There has also been a lower requirement 
for supplies and services following the completion of renewal projects in the previous financial year, 
a reduced requirement for external legal services by using internal resources to support employee 
arbitration activities and a decrease in whole-of-government leadership and development programs.

Employee expenses have reduced by 19 per cent from the previous financial year due to the reduction 
in employee numbers as an effect of the machinery-of-government transfers. Supplies and services 
have reduced by 38 per cent due to a lower need for external services due to the completion of renewal 
projects and more efficient processes in managing employee arbitration activities.

Other expenses allow for goods and services provided below fair value.

Expenditure	  

Expenditure	  has	  decreased	  $6.065	  million	  or	  26	  per	  cent	  due	  to	  the	  reduction	  in	  employee	  costs	  
associated	  with	  the	  machinery-‐of-‐government	  transfers.	  There	  has	  also	  been	  a	  lower	  requirement	  
for	  supplies	  and	  services	  following	  the	  completion	  of	  renewal	  projects	  in	  the	  previous	  financial	  year,	  
a	  reduced	  requirement	  for	  external	  legal	  services	  by	  using	  internal	  resources	  to	  support	  employee	  
arbitration	  activities	  and	  a	  decrease	  in	  whole-‐of-‐government	  leadership	  and	  development	  programs.	  

Employee	  expenses	  have	  reduced	  by	  19	  per	  cent	  from	  the	  previous	  financial	  year	  due	  to	  the	  
reduction	  in	  employee	  numbers	  as	  an	  effect	  of	  the	  machinery-‐of-‐government	  transfers.	  Supplies	  and	  
services	  have	  reduced	  by	  38	  per	  cent	  due	  to	  a	  lower	  need	  for	  external	  services	  due	  to	  the	  
completion	  of	  renewal	  projects	  and	  more	  efficient	  processes	  in	  managing	  employee	  arbitration	  
activities.	  

Other	  expenses	  allow	  for	  goods	  and	  services	  provided	  below	  fair	  value.	  

Operating	  result	  

The	  PSC	  has	  recorded	  a	  balanced	  position	  for	  the	  current	  financial	  year.	  
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Operating result
The PSC has recorded a balanced position for the current financial year.

Financial position

Assets
Cash balances were lower due to timing issues in recovering costs associated with the machinery-of-
government transfer for the IR Division, the whole-of-government Directors-General recruitment process 
and Mindhive Licence costs.

Property, plant and equipment has reduced by annual depreciation allowance.

Liabilities        
Liabilities have primarily reduced due to the reduction in the liability incentive associated with the 
leasehold fit-out of the premises occupied at Level 13, 53 Albert Street.

Please refer to note 19 on page 71 of the Financial statements for a budget analysis for the 2014–15 
financial year. 

Financial	  position	  

Public Service Commission
Actual 2014–15 

$'000 
Actual 2013–14 

$'000 
Variance 

$'000 
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 173 1,062 (889) 
Receivables 1,719 812 907 
Prepayments 85 54 31 
Total current assets 1,977 1,928 49 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1,366 1,552 (186) 
Total non-current assets 1,366 1,552 (186) 

Total assets 3,343 3,480 (137) 

Current liabilities
Trade creditors 1,111 1,094 17 
Accrued employee benefits 363 424 (61) 
Leasehold incentive 118 118 0 
Unearned revenue 26 0 26 
Total current liabilities 1,618 1,636 (18) 

Non-current liabilities
Leasehold incentive 789 908 (119) 
Total non-current liabilities 789 908 (119) 

Total liabilities 2,407 2,544 (137) 

Net assets 936 936 0 

Equity
Contributed equity 934 934 0 
Accumulated surplus 2 2 0 

Total equity 936 936 0 

	  

Assets	  

Cash	  balances	  were	  lower	  due	  to	  timing	  issues	  in	  recovering	  costs	  associated	  with	  the	  machinery-‐of-‐
government	  transfer	  for	  the	  IR	  division,	  the	  whole-‐of-‐government	  Directors-‐General	  recruitment	  
process	  and	  Mindhive	  Licence	  costs.	  

Property,	  plant	  and	  equipment	  has	  reduced	  by	  annual	  depreciation	  allowance.	  

Liabilities	  

Liabilities	  have	  primarily	  reduced	  due	  to	  the	  reduction	  in	  the	  liability	  incentive	  associated	  with	  the	  
leasehold	  fit-‐out	  of	  the	  premises	  occupied	  at	  Level	  13,	  53	  Albert	  Street.	  

Please	  refer	  to	  note	  19	  on	  page	  68	  of	  the	  Financial	  Statements	  for	  a	  budget	  analysis	  for	  the	  2014–15	  
financial	  year.	  	  
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These financial statements cover the Public Service Commission. 

The Public Service Commission was established under the Public Service Act 2008. 

The Commission is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent.  

The head office and principal place of business of the Commission is: 

Level 13 
53 Albert Street 
BRISBANE QLD 4000 

A description of the nature of the Commission’s operations and its principal activities is included in the 
notes to the financial statements. 

For information in relation to the Commission’s financial statements please call 3003 2800, email 
commission.psc@psc.qld.gov.au or visit the Commission’s internet site www.psc.qld.gov.au. 

Amounts shown in these financial statements may not add to the correct sub-totals or totals due to 
rounding. 
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PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION  
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 
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Notes 2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Income from Continuing Operations
Appropriation revenue 2 16,589 22,636
User charges 172 162
Grants and other contributions 3 417 236
Other revenue 4 2 184

Total Income from Continuing Operations 17,180 23,218

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses 5 10,466 12,948
Supplies and services 7 6,210 10,018
Depreciation 11 185 185
Other expenses 8 319 94

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 17,180 23,245

Operating Result for the Year -                 (27)

Other Comprehensive Income -                 -                 

Total Comprehensive Income -                 (27)

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2015 
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Notes 2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 173 1,062
Receivables 10 1,719 812
Prepayments 85 54

Total Current Assets 1,977 1,928

Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment 11 1,366 1,552

Total Non-Current Assets 1,366 1,552

Total Assets 3,343 3,480

Current Liabilities
Trade creditors 1,111 1,094
Accrued employee benefits 12 363 424
Leasehold incentive 118 118
Unearned revenue 26 -

Total Current Liabilities 1,618 1,636

Non-Current Liabilities
Leasehold incentive 789 908

Total Non-Current Liabilities 789 908

Total Liabilities 2,407 2,544

Net Assets 936 936

Equity
Contributed equity 934 934
Accumulated surplus 2 2

Total Equity 936 936

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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 PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
        Statement of Changes in Equity 
        for the year ended 30 June 2015 
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Accumulated 
Surplus/Deficit

Contributed 
Equity

Total

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2013 29 934 963

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year (27) - (27)

Balance at 30 June 2014 2 934 936

Balance at 1 July 2014 2 934 936

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year -                          -                      -                 

Balance at 30 June 2015 2 934 936

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION  
Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 
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Notes 2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
Service appropriation receipts 16,685 22,796
User charges 163 171
Grants and other contributions 406 190
GST input tax credits from ATO 604 1,123
GST collected from customers 54 32
Other 55 131
Outflows:
Employee expenses (10,833) (13,337)
Supplies and services (6,592) (10,928)
GST paid to suppliers (651) (1,093)
GST remitted to ATO (48) (54)
Advances to other agencies (686) -                 
Other (47) (99)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 13 (890) (1,068)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (890) (1,068)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 1,062 2,130

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 9 173 1,062

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.
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Objectives and Principal Activities of the Commission 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Note 2: Reconciliation of Payments from Consolidated Fund to Appropriation Revenue 

Recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Note 3:  Grants and Other Contributions 

Note 4: Other Revenue 

Note 5: Employee Expenses 

Note 6: Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses 
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Note 8: Other Expenses 

Note 9: Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Note 10: Receivables 

Note 11: Plant and Equipment 

Note 12: Accrued Employee Benefits 

Note 13: Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash from Operating Activities 

Note 14: Commitments for Expenditure 

Note 15: Contingencies 

Note 16: Events Occurring after Balance Date 

Note 17:  Machinery-of-Government Transfers 

Note 18: Financial Instruments 

Note 19: Budget vs Actual Comparison 
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PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014-15 
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Objectives and Principal Activities of the Commission   
 
The strategic objectives of the Public Service Commission (the Commission) are to enable: 
 A high performing, engaged, service focussed workforce 
 A professional and productive public sector to serve the government and the community 
 Quality advice and trusted intelligence on contemporary Human Resource matters. 

 
The Commission was established on 1 July 2008 under the Public Service Act 2008. The 
Commission’s main purpose is to: 
 Enhance the public sector’s human resource management and capability 
 Enhance the public sector’s leadership and management capability 
 Develop and implement public sector wide workforce management strategies. 
 
Our vision and purpose, is for a public sector that is distinguished by its capability, impartiality and 
professionalism in serving the government and the community. 
 
 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
(a) Statement of Compliance 
 
The Commission has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 42 of the 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009. 
 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, and have been prepared on an 
accrual basis in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. In addition, the 
financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for the 
year ending 30 June 2015, and other authoritative pronouncements. 
 
With respect to compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, the 
Commission has applied those requirements applicable to not-for-profit entities, as the Commission is 
a not-for-profit agency. Except where stated, the historical cost convention is used. 
 
(b) The Reporting Entity 
 
The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of 
the Commission.  
 
(c) Appropriation Revenue 
 
Appropriations provided under the Appropriation Act 2014 are recognised as revenue when received.  
Where an appropriation receivable or payable has been recorded in the financial statements as at 30 
June 2015, this has been approved by Queensland Treasury.  As per AASB 1004 Contributions and 
Accounting Policy Guideline 2 Contributions Received by Not-For-Profit Agencies, appropriation 
receivable (if applicable) has been recognised against revenue and conversely, appropriation payable 
(if applicable) has been recognised against an expense. 
 
(d) User Charges and Fees 
 
User charges and fees controlled by the Commission are recognised as revenues when the revenue 
has been earned and can be measured reliably with a sufficient degree of certainty. This involves 
either invoicing for related services and/or the recognition of accrued revenue. User charges and fees 
are controlled by the Commission where they can be deployed for the achievement of the 
Commission’s objectives. 
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PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2014-15 
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(e) Grants and Contributions 
 
Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue 
in the year in which the Commission obtains control over them. Where grants are received that are 
reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised as various performance obligations under the funding 
agreement are fulfilled. 
 
Contributions of services are recognised only when a fair value can be determined reliably and the 
services would be purchased if they had not been donated. 
 
(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows, cash 
assets include all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June 2015 as well as deposits at 
call with financial institutions.  
 
(g) Receivables 
 
Trade debtors are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the 
agreed purchase/contract price. Settlement of these amounts is required within 30 days from the 
invoice date. 
 
The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically for impairment. There were no bad debts as 
at 30 June 2015.  

 
Other receivables generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the 
Commission and are recognised at their assessed values. No interest is charged and no security is 
obtained. 
 
(h) Acquisitions of Assets 
 
Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical asset acquisitions. Cost is 
determined as the value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all 
other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use, including architects' fees and engineering 
design fees. However, any training costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland Government entity (whether as a 
result of a machinery of government change or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is 
recognised as the gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor immediately prior to the 
transfer together with any accumulated depreciation. 
 
(i) Plant and Equipment 
 
Items of plant and equipment including leasehold improvements with a cost or other value equal to or 
in excess of $5,000 are recognised for financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition, with 
those of a lesser value being expensed.  
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(j) Depreciation of Plant and Equipment 
 
Plant and equipment is measured at cost in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current 
Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. The carrying amounts for such plant and equipment 
at cost should not materially differ from their fair value. 
 
Plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost of each 
asset, less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the Commission. 
Management believes this depreciation method best represents the pattern of consumption for these 
assets. 
 
The depreciable amount of improvements to the leasehold building is allocated over the estimated 
useful life of the improvements or the unexpired period of the lease, whichever is the shorter. The 
unexpired period of the lease includes any option period where the exercise of the option is probable. 
 
For each class of depreciable asset the following depreciation rates are used: 
 
Class    Depreciation Rate 
 
Plant and equipment:  
    Computers       20 – 33% 
    Office equipment               20% 
    Leasehold improvement    8% 
 
(k) Impairment of Non-Current Assets 
 
All non-current assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator of 
possible impairment exists, the Commission determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount 
by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment 
loss.  
 
(l) Leases 
 
A distinction is made in the financial statements between finance leases that effectively transfer from 
the lessor to the lessee substantially all risks and benefits incidental to ownership, and operating 
leases, under which the lessor retains substantially all risks and benefits. 
 
Operating lease payments are representative of the pattern of benefit derived from the leased assets 
and are expensed in the periods in which they are incurred. 
 
Incentives received on entering into operating leases are recognised as liabilities. Amortisation of 
lease liabilities are allocated between rental expense and reduction of the liability.  
 
The lease incentive has been recognised in the financial statements as a liability consistent with the 
treatment mandated by AASB Interpretation 115 Operating Leases and AASB117 Leases. The lease 
incentive liability is amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term inclusive of options to extend 
the lease term and reduce the rent expense by the corresponding amount. Management has 
estimated that the lease term is shorter than the useful life of the improvement to the Commission. 
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(m) Payables 
 
Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at 
the agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are 
unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms. 
 
(n) Financial Instruments 
 
Recognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when 
the Commission becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
Classification 
 
Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows: 
 Cash and cash equivalents – held at fair value through profit or loss 
 Receivables – held at amortised cost 
 Payables – held at amortised cost 
 
The Commission does not enter into transactions for speculative purposes, nor for hedging. Apart 
from cash and cash equivalents, the Commission holds no financial assets classified at fair value 
through profit or loss. 
 
All other disclosures relating to the measurement and financial risk management of financial 
instruments held by the Commission are included in note 18. 
 
(o) Employee Benefits 
 
Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave levies and long service leave levies are 
regarded as employee benefits. 
 
Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an 
employee's total remuneration package.  This is not employee benefits and is recognised separately 
as employee related expenses. 
 
Wages, Salaries and Sick Leave 
 
Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position at the current salary rates. 
 
As the Commission expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the 
liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts. 
 
Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the 
entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that 
existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave 
entitlements is recognised.  
 
As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken. 
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(o) Employee Benefits (cont’d) 
 
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 

 
Under the Queensland Government’s Long Service Leave and Annual Leave Central Scheme 
(ALCS), a levy is made on the Commission to cover the cost of employees’ annual leave (including 
leave loading and on-costs) and long service leave. The levies are expensed in the period in which 
they are payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service leave are claimed 
from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 
 
No provision for annual leave and long service leave have been recognised in the Commission’s 
financial statements as the liability is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those 
financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector 
Financial Reporting.  
 
Superannuation 
 
Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation plan for Queensland 
Government employees, at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary.  
Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable. The Commission’s 
obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper. 
 
The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and defined contribution categories. The liability for defined 
benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant 
to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. 
 
Key Management Personnel and Remuneration 
 
Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are made in accordance with section 5 of 
the Financial Reporting Requirements for Queensland Agencies issued by Queensland Treasury.  
Refer to note 6 for the disclosures on key management personnel and remuneration.  
 
(p) Insurance 
 
The Commission’s non-current physical assets and other risks are insured through the Queensland 
Government Insurance Fund (QGIF), premiums being paid on a risk assessment basis including 
public liability.  In addition, the Commission pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of 
its obligations for employee compensation. This is recognised as an employee related expense. 
 
(q) Services Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Value  
 
Contributions of services are recognised only if the services would have been purchased if they had 
not been donated and their fair value can be measured reliably. Where this is the case, an equal 
amount is recognised as revenue and an expense. 
 
(r) Contributed Equity  
 
Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public 
Sector entities as a result of machinery-of-Government changes are adjusted to Contributed Equity in 
accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities. Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated.   
 
(s) Taxation 
 
The Commission is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is 
exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and 
Services Tax (GST). FBT and GST are the only taxes accounted for by the Commission. GST credits 
receivable from, and GST payable to the Australian Taxation Office are recognised. 
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(t) Issuance of Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Commission Chief Executive (Acting) and 
Chief Finance Officer at the date of signing the Management Certificate. 
 
(u) Accounting Estimates and Judgement 
 
The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of certain 
critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and management judgements that have the potential to 
cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year.  Such estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 
future periods as relevant. 
 
Estimates and assumptions with the most significant effect on the financial statements are outlined in 
the following notes: 
 
Receivables – note 1(g) and note 10 
Depreciation – note 1(j) and note 11 
Impairment – note 1(k) 
Contingencies – note 15 
Financial Instruments – note 18 
 
(v) Rounding and Comparatives 
 
Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the 
nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is 
specifically required.  
 
Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the 
current reporting period. 
 
(w) New and Revised Accounting Standards 

 
The Commission did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2014-15. The 
Australian Accounting Standard applicable for the first time as from 2014-15 that had the most 
significant impact on the Commission's financial statements is AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting. 
 
AASB 1055 became effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. In response to 
this new standard, the Commission has included in these financial statements a comprehensive new 
note 'Budget vs Actual Comparison' (note 19). This note discloses the Commission’s adjusted 
published budgeted figures for 2014-15 compared to actual results, with explanations of major 
variances, in respect of the Commission's Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows. Explanations have been provided, at a minimum, for 
variances that are larger than 5% of the budgeted figure for employee expenses, other supplies and 
services, payments for property, plant and equipment and for all other material line items, variances 
larger than 10% of the budgeted figure. Note 19 also includes a comparison between the adjusted  
published budgeted figures for 2014-15 compared to actual results, and explanations of major 
variances, in respect of the Commission's major classes of administered income, expenses, assets 
and liabilities.  
 
The Commission is not permitted to early adopt a new or amended accounting standard ahead of the 
specified commencement date unless approval is obtained from Queensland Treasury. Consequently, 
the Commission has not applied any Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
been issued but are not yet effective. The Commission applies standards and interpretations in 
accordance with their respective commencement dates. 
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(w) New and Revised Accounting Standards (cont’d) 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended 
Australian Accounting Standards with future commencement dates are as set out below. 
 
From reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, the Commission will need to comply with the 
requirements of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. That accounting standard requires a range of 
disclosures about the remuneration of key management personnel, transactions with related 
parties/entities, and relationships between parent and controlled entities. The Commission already 
discloses information about the remuneration expenses for key management personnel (refer to note 
6) in compliance with requirements from Queensland Treasury. Therefore, the most significant 
implications of AASB 124 for the Commission's financial statements will be the disclosures to be 
made about transactions with related parties, including transactions with key management personnel 
or close members of their families. 
 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will become effective from reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2017. This standard contains much more detailed requirements for 
the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers. Depending on the specific contractual 
terms, the new requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of 
the Commission's goods and services, such that some revenue may need to be deferred to a later 
reporting period to the extent that the Commission has received cash but has not met its associated 
obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability (unearned revenue) in the meantime). The 
Commission is yet to complete its analysis of current arrangements for sale of its goods and services, 
but at this stage does not expect a significant impact on its present accounting practices. 
 
All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with future commencement dates are 
either not applicable to the Commission's activities, or have no material impact on the Commission. 
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2015 2014
$'000 $'000

2.   Reconciliation of Payments from Consolidated Fund 
      to Appropriation Revenue Recognised in 
      Statement of Comprehensive Income

Budgeted appropriation revenue 17,474 26,667
Transfers from other departments - Redistribution of public business (1,056) (5,570)
Unforeseen expenditure 267 1,699
Total Apppropriation receipts (cash) 16,685 22,796
Less: Opening balance of appropriation revenue receivable (96) (256)
Plus: Closing balance of appropriation revenue receivable - 96
Less: Closing balance of deferred appropriation refundable to 
Consolidated Fund (payable) (142) -                 
Net Appropriation Revenue 16,447 22,636

Plus: Deferred appropriation refundable to Consolidated Fund (expense) 142 -                 
Appropriation Revenue recognised in Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 16,589 22,636

3.   Grants and Other Contributions

Grants from Government departments 191 120
Contributions from Industry -                 5
Contributions from Government departments 195 11
Contributions from Local Government -                 50
Services received at below fair value 31 50

Total 417 236

4.   Other Revenue

Contract management fee * -                 177
Other 2 7

Total 2 184

* Contract management fees are paid by providers for the delivery of development programs.
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2015 2014
$'000 $'000

5.   Employee Expenses

Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries 8,060 9,268
Employer superannuation contributions * 1,068 1,140
Long service leave levy * 188 188
Annual leave levy * 970 946
Fringe benefits tax 59 99
Termination Payment -                 474
Other 89 250

Employee Related Expenses
Workers' compensation premium 31 73
Payroll Tax 1 510

Total 10,466 12,948

 
* Refer to note 1(o). 
 
The number of employees as at 30 June, including both full-time employees and part-time employees, 
measured on a full-time equivalent basis (reflecting Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information 
(MOHRI)) is:  

Number of employees as at 30 June:                                                           69 89  
 
The decrease in employee numbers is primarily due to machinery-of-Government of the Industrial 
Relations business unit to the Department of Justice and Attorney-General. 
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6.    Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses 
 
(a) Key Management Personnel 
 
The following details for key management personnel include those positions that had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Commission during 2014-15. Further information on these positions can be found in the body of the Annual Report under the section relating 
to Executive Management. 
 

Contract classification and 
appointment authority

Date appointed to position 
(Date resigned from position)

Commission Chief Executive (Acting) CEO2, Public Service Act 
2008

Interim appointment 16 February 
2015

Commission Chief Executive CEO2, Public Service Act 
2008

Appointed 23 September 2013
Redirected to Review of Statutory 
Authorities from 16 February 
2015

Deputy Commissioner, Workforce 
Strategy and Performance

SES4, Public Service Act 
2008

Appointed 2 April 2012

Deputy Commissioner, Workforce 
Renewal and Operations

SES4, Public Service Act 
2008

Appointed 8 April 2013

Assistant Deputy Commissioner, 
Workforce Policy and Legal

SES3, Public Service Act 
2008

Appointed 26 June 2014

Project Chief Executive,  Statutory 
Appointments Review

CEO2, Public Service Act 
2008

Appointed 16 February 2015

Position Responsibilities

Current Incumbents

The Commission Chief Executive is responsible for the 
efficient, effective and economic administration of the Public 
Service Commission.

The Commission Chief Executive is responsible for the 
efficient, effective and economic administration of the Public 
Service Commission.

The Deputy Commissioner is responsible for the development 
of workforce strategy, leadership development and executive 
performance frameworks for the sector.

The Deputy Commissioner is responsible for leading Industrial 
Relations, employee engagement and Chief and Senior 
Executive recruitment and contracts.

The Assistant Deputy Commissioner is responsible for 
providing advice on legislation, policy and guidelines which 
support workforce management of the sector.

The Project Chief Executive is responsible for leading a review 
of statutory appointments.
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6.    Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont’d) 
 
(b) Remuneration Expenses 
 
Remuneration policy for the Commission’s key management personnel is set by the Queensland Public Service Commission as provided for under the Public 
Service Act 2008. The remuneration and other terms of employment (including motor vehicle entitlements) for the key management personnel are specified in 
employment contracts. The contract of the former Commission Chief Executive under the previous Government provided for an At Risk Component payment. 
The new Commission Chief Executive is currently engaged in an acting capacity and does not have this provision. 
 
For the 2014-15 year, remuneration of key management personnel increased by 2.2% (effective from 1 July 2014) in accordance with government policy. 
 
The following disclosures focus on the expenses incurred by the Commission during the respective reporting periods that is attributable to key management 
positions. Therefore, the amounts disclosed reflect expenses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Remuneration expenses for key management personnel comprises the following components: 
 

 Short term employee expenses which include: 
o Salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee 

occupied the specified position. Amounts disclosed equal the amount expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
o Performance payments recognised as an expense during the year 
o Non-monetary benefits subject to fringe benefits tax. Note that it is no longer an option to receive a government vehicle in lieu of a car 

allowance            
 Long term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave entitlements earned 
 Post-employment expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations 
 Termination benefits are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for notice periods or payment 

in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the reason for termination.      
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6.    Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont’d) 
 
(b) Remuneration Expenses (cont’d) 
 

1 July 2014 - 30 June 2015

Long Term 
Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Commission Chief Executive (Acting) 
(16 February to 30 June 2015) 187 -                  4 20 -                211

Commission Chief Executive 
(1 July 2014 to 15 February 2015) 362 -                  6 41 -                409

Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Strategy and Performance 243 -                  5 26 -                274

Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Renewal and Operations 237 -                  5 27 -                269

Assistant Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Policy and Legal 214 -                  4 23 -                241

Project Chief Executive,  Statutory Appointments Review 
(16 February to 30 June 2015) 162 -                  3 18 -                183

Total Remuneration 1,405 -                  27 155 -                1,587

Position

Short Term Employee 
Benefits
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6.    Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont’d) 
 
(b) Remuneration Expenses (cont’d) 
 
1 July 2013 - 30 June 2014

Long Term 
Employee 
Benefits

Post 
Employment 

Benefits

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

Base
$'000

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Commission Chief Executive
(1 July 2013 to 20 September 2013) 198 5 2 6 -                211

Commission Chief Executive
(23 September 2013 to 30 June 2014) 332 2 7 39 -                380

Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Strategy & Performance 234 -                  4 26 -                264

Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Renewal & Operations 230 1 5 22 -                258

Deputy Commissioner, Renewal 
(1 July 2013 to 01 October 2013) 86 -                  2 9 -                97

Chief Executive Officer, Capability Development Unit
(1 July 2013 - 20 September 2013) 93 6 2 10 474 585

Assistant Deputy Commissioner, Workforce Policy & Legal
(17 February 2014 - 30 June 2014) 70 -                  1 8 -                79

Total Remuneration 1,243 14 23 120 474 1,874

Position

Short Term Employee 
Benefits
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6.    Key Management Personnel and Remuneration Expenses (cont’d) 
 
(c) Performance Payments 
 
The remuneration package for the former Commission Chief Executive under the previous Government included a potential At Risk Component up to a 
maximum of $77,336. Eligibility for such a performance payment in respect of 2013-14 was conditional on the achievement of objectives that are documented in 
that position’s performance agreement.  
 
The total remuneration package for the Commission Chief Executive included a portion that is "at risk" and paid only if they met or exceeded the agreed 
performance standards. The performance evaluation process comprised: 

 reporting on end of year achievement and self-assessment by each chief executive against their performance agreement/intended outcomes 
 analysis by the Public Service Commission, the Under Treasurer, Queensland Treasury and the Director-General, Department of the Premier and 

Cabinet of relevant performance data 
 a rigorous, independent and objective assessment of the Commission Chief Executive’s performance at the end of each financial year using, among 

other things, information provided from the above two steps. This performance assessment is undertaken by the Chief Executive Performance 
Evaluation Committee (CEPEC) 

 recommendations from the CEPEC to the Premier and 
 the Premier’s ultimate discretion regarding whether the Commission Chief Executive will be paid an At Risk Component payment and, if so, how much. 

     . 
No At Risk Component payment was made for 2014-15 in accordance with the Government's commitment to discontinue such payments. 
 
The basis for performance payments expensed in the 2014-15 financial year is set out below: 
 
Position Date Paid Basis for Payment 
Commission Chief Executive 17/10/2014 This payment relates to the achievement of performance criteria during 2013-14. In accordance with the 

terms of the performance agreement for this position, it was determined that a payment of $76,846 be 
awarded. 

 
The basis for performance payments expensed in the 2013-14 financial year is set out below: 
 
Position Date Paid Basis for Payment 
Commission Chief Executive 06/11/2013 This payment relates to the achievement of performance criteria during 2012-13. In accordance with the 

terms of the performance agreement for this position, it was determined that a payment of $74,402 be 
awarded.  
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2015 2014
$'000 $'000

7.   Supplies and Services

Building services * 1,601 1,920
Conference, workshop, training costs 892 680
Consultancies and contractors ** 2,059 4,852
Corporate services 472 758
External computer charges 381 55
Motor vehicle costs 157 180
Professional services 113 1,016
Travel 58 78
Other 477 479

Total 6,210 10,018

* Decrease reflects the reduction in leased areas of level 13 and 15, 53 Albert Street.

** Various project works carried out during 2013-14 financial year such as  Executive Capability 
Assessment and Development, Working for Queensland Survey, Corporate Service Renewal and Qld 
Health Renewal Taskforce.

8.   Other Expenses

External audit fees * 30 31
Other ** 289 63

Total 319 94

* Total audit fees paid to the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2014-15 financial year are 
estimated to be $30,000 (2014: $30,748).  There are no non-audit services included in this amount.

** Other expenses include: $128,300 representing the value of employee expenses provided to other 
government agencies. $142,000 representing appropriation returned to Queensland Treasury 
deferred till the 2015-16 Financial year.

9.   Cash and Cash Equivalents

Imprest account 1 1
Cash at bank* 172 1,061

Total 173 1,062

* Cash balance impacted by timing difference between payment and recoupment of expenses 
associated with Industrial Relations Machinery-of-Government costs for the Department of Justice 
and Attorney-General.
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2015 2014
$'000 $'000

10.   Receivables

Trade debtors* 699 379
Long service leave reimbursements 18 4
Annual leave reimbursements 179 179
Appropriation receivable -                 96
GST receivable 104 52
Other** 719 102

Total 1,719 812

* Increase due to recovery for Director-General recruitment costs, Workforce and Collection 
Application Reporting Services and whole-of-government Mindhive Licence from participating 
government agencies.

** Costs relate to recovery of machinery-of-Government transfer for Industrial Relations from the 
Department of Justice and Attorney-General and recovery of Director-General recruitment costs.

 
11.   Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment:
At cost 2,509 2,509
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,143) (958)

1,366 1,551

Total 1,366 1,551

Plant and Equipment Reconciliation

Plant and Equipment
Carrying amount at 1 July 1,551 1,736
Depreciation (185) (185)

Total carrying amount at 30 June 2015 1,366 1,551

The Commission has plant and equipment with an original cost of $67,257 (2014: $62,392) and 
written down value of zero still being used in the provision of services. Regular assessment by 
management is conducted and a number of items are currently assessed for replacement over the 
next twelve months.  
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2015 2014
$'000 $'000

12.   Accrued Employee Benefits

Annual leave levy payable 252 245
Long service leave levy payable 48 46
Accrued salaries and wages 63 133

Total 363 424

Operating surplus/(deficit) -                 (27)

Depreciation expense 185 185
Amortisation of lease incentive liability (118) (118)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in output revenue receivable 96 160
(Increase)/decrease in long service leave reimbursement (14) 35
(Increase)/decrease in annual leave reimbursement -                 (9)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (320) (319)
(Increase)/decrease in GST input tax credits receivable (52) 37
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (31) (25)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables (617) (18)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 16 (1,067)
Increase/(decrease) in unearned revenue 26 -                 
Increase/(decrease) in accrued employee benefits (61) 97

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (890) (1,068)

13.   Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash from Operating 
Activities
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2015 2014
$'000 $'000

14.   Commitments for Expenditure

(a) Non-cancellable operating lease

·   Not later than one year 1,165 2,005
·   Later than one year and not later than five years 2,461 5,232

Total 3,626 7,237

Commitments under operating leases at reporting date are inclusive of anticipated GST and are 
payable as follows:

(b) Other Expenditure Commitments

·   Not later than one year 813 1,212
·   Later than one year and not later than five years 91 430

Total 904 1,642

Material expenditure commitments inclusive of anticipated GST, contracted for at reporting date but 
not recognised in the accounts are payable as follows:

15.   Contingencies 
 
As at 30 June 2015, no legal action is outstanding or has been brought against the Commission. 
 
Effective 1 July 2008, the Commission joined the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF).  
Under the QGIF, the Commission would be able to claim back, less $10,000 deductible, the 
amounts paid to successful litigants. This includes any cases that existed as at 1 July 2008 and 
cases that have arisen since that date. 
 
16.    Events Occurring after Balance Date 
 
There are no major events which occurred after 30 June 2015. 
 
17.    Machinery-of-Government Transfers 
 
Transfer of the Public Sector Industrial Relations 
 
As a result of the Public Service Departmental Arrangements Notice (No.1) 2015, dated 16 
February 2015 with financial effect from 1 March 2015, the responsibility for the Public Sector 
Industrial Relations business unit was transferred to the Department of Justice and Attorney-
General. 
 
No assets or liabilities were transferred. 
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18.    Financial Instruments 

(a)    Categorisation of Financial Instruments

The Commission has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Category
Note

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 173 1,062
Receivables 10 1,719 812

Total 1,892 1,874

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs:
Payables 1,111 1,094

Total 1,111 1,094

(b)   Financial Risk Management

The Commission's activities do not expose it to any material credit, liquidity or market risk.
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19.  Budget vs Actual Comparison 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Variance 
Notes

Adjusted 
Budget 

2015
Actual 
2015 Variance Variance 

$'000 $'000 $'000 % of Budget

Income from Continuing Operations
Appropriation revenue 16,418 16,589 171 1%
User charges 135 172 37 27%
Grants and other contributions 472 417 (55) (12%)
Other revenue 2 2 100%
Total Income from Continuing Operations 17,025 17,180 155 1%

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses 1 10,130 10,466 336 3%
Supplies and services 2 6,669 6,210 (459) (7%)
Depreciation 186 185 (1) (1%)
Other expenses 40 319 279 698%
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 17,025 17,180 155 1%

Operating Result for the Year -                -                -                
Other Comprehensive Income -                -                -                
Total Comprehensive Income -                -                -                

Explanation of major variances

1. Employee Expenses were higher than budget primarily due to additional funding provided towards the Conduct and 
Performance Excellence (CaPE) initiative and partially offset by effect of Commission services provided to other

Leadership and Development programs. This accounts for $0.37m of the variance.

2. Supplies and Services were lower than budget due to net effect of deferral for whole-of-government leadership and 
development programs. This accounts for $0.46m of the variance.

government departments below fair value that is classified as Other Expenditure and the net effect of deferral of 
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19.  Budget vs Actual Comparison (cont'd)

Statement of Financial Position

Variance 
Notes

Adjusted 
Budget 

2015
Actual 
2015 Variance Variance 

$'000 $'000 $'000 % of Budget

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 831 173 (658) (79%)
Receivables 3 443 1,719 1,276 288%
Other current assets 29 85 56 193%
Total Current Assets 1,303 1,977 674 52%

Non Current Assets
Plant and equipment 4 1,518 1,366 (152) (10%)
Total Non Current Assets 1,518 1,366 (152) (10%)

Total Assets 2,821 3,343 522 19%

Current Liabilities
Payables 5 623 1,111 488 78%
Accrued employee benefits 6 327 363 36 11%
Other current liabilities 118 144 26 22%
Total Current Liabilities 1,068 1,618 550 51%

Non Current Liabilities
Other non current liabilities 790 789 (1) (0%)
Total Non Current Liabilities 790 789 (1) (0%)

Total Liabilities 1,858 2,407 549 30%

Net Assets 963 936 (27) (3%)

Equity
Contributed equity 934 934 -                0%
Accumulated surplus 29 2 (27) (93%)
Total Equity 963 936 (27) (3%)

Explanation of major variances

These items account for $1.14m of the variance.

5. Actual Payables was higher than budget due to later than expected roll-out of the Leadership Capability

6. Actual Accrued Employee Benefits were higher than budget primarily due to increased employee expenditure 
associated with the establishment of the CaPE function.

c) agency contributions towards the whole-of-government Mindhive Licence costs, final salary and 
accomodation recoveries.

4. The estimated actual Plant and Equipment did not take into account the adjusted budget classification for the
Information and Technology (ICT) asset replacement initiative and accounts for $0.17m of the variance.

Assessment Development program. This accounts for $0.33m of the variance.

3. Actual Receivables were higher than budget due to timing of costs recoveries associated with:
a) the macinery-of-Government transfer for Industrial Relations work unit,
b) Director-General recruitment costs,
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19.  Budget vs Actual Comparison (cont'd)

Statement of Cash Flows

Variance 
Notes

Adjusted 
Budget 

2015
Actual 
2015 Variance Variance 

$'000 $'000 $'000 % of Budget

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows:
Service appropriation receipts 16,418 16,685 267 2%
User charges 135 163 28 21%
Grants and other contributions 472 406 (66) (14%)
GST input tax credits from ATO 7 -                604 604 100%
GST collected from customers 7 -                54 54 100%
Other -                55 55 100%
Outflows:
Employee expenses (10,130) (10,833) (703) 7%
Supplies and services (6,669) (6,592) 77 (1%)
GST paid to suppliers 7 -                (651) (651) 100%
GST remitted to ATO 7 -                (48) (48) 100%
Advances to other agencies 8 -                (686) (686) 100%
Other (158) (47) 111 (70%)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities 68 (890) (958) (1,408%)

Cash flows from investing activities
Outflows:
Payments for plant and equipment (52) -                (52) 100%
Net cash provided by (used in) investing 
activities (52) -                (52) 100%

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16 (890) 906 5,661%
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
financial year 815 1,062 (247) (30%)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial 
year 831 173 658 79%

Explanation of major variances 

and recovery of Director-General recruitment costs from other 5 Queensland Government departments. This 

8. Actual cash outflows for Advances to Other Agencies were higher than budget due to machinery-of-Government

7. Variance commentary not provided due to current budget practices not quantifying the impacts of GST in the 
budget cash flow statements. The budget process will be amended accordingly to ensure GST cash flow analysis to
occur for future years.

accounted for $0.68m of the variance.

transfer costs for Industrial Relations which was transferred to the Department of Justice and Attorney-General
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
 

To the Accountable Officer of the Public Service Commission  
 
Report on the Financial Report 
 
I have audited the accompanying financial report of the Public Service Commission, which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the 
certificates given by the Commission Chief Executive (Acting) and Chief Finance Officer. 
 
The Accountable Officer’s Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with prescribed accounting requirements identified in the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, including 
compliance with Australian Accounting Standards.  The Accountable Officer’s responsibility also 
includes such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on the audit.  The audit was 
conducted in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards.  Those standards require compliance with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit is planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control, other than in expressing an opinion on 
compliance with prescribed requirements.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
Accountable Officer, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report including 
any mandatory financial reporting requirements approved by the Treasurer for application in 
Queensland. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
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Compliance checklist 
Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual

report
reference

Letter of compliance • A letter of compliance from the 
accountable officer or statutory 
body to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 8 3

Accessibility • Table of contents

• Glossary

ARRs – section 10.1 4

78

• Public availability ARRs – section 10.2 2

• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 
Language Services Policy

ARRs – section 10.3

2

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs – section 10.4

2

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information Licensing

ARRs – section 10.5

2

General information • Introductory Information ARRs – section 11.1 2

• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 11.2 8

• Operating environment ARRs – section 11.3 10

• Machinery of government 
changes

ARRs – section 11.4 22

Non-financial 
performance

• Government’s objectives for the 
community

ARRs – section 12.1 13

• Other whole-of-government plans 
/ specific initiatives

ARRs – section 12.2 22

• Agency objectives and 
performance indicators

ARRs – section 12.3 11

• Agency service areas and service 
standards

ARRs – section 12.4 33

Financial performance • Summary of financial 
performance

ARRs – section 13.1 38

Governance – 
management and 
structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 14.1 31

• Executive management ARRs – section 14.2 31

• Government bodies (statutory 
bodies and other entities)

ARRs – section 14.3 32

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

ARRs – section 14.4

37
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Governance – risk 
management and 
accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 15.1 32

• External scrutiny ARRs – section 15.2 29-30

• Audit committee ARRs – section 15.3 32

• Internal audit ARRs – section 15.4 32

• Information systems and 
recordkeeping

ARRs – section 15.5 33

Governance – human 
resources

• Workforce planning and 
performance

ARRs – section 16.1 35

• Early retirement, redundancy and 
retrenchment

Directive No.11/12 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy and 
Retrenchment 

ARRs – section 16.2

36

Open Data • Consultancies ARRs – section 17

ARRs – section 34.1

30

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 17

ARRs – section 34.2

30

• Queensland Language Services 
Policy

ARRs – section 17

ARRs – section 34.3

30

• Government bodies ARRs – section 17

ARRs – section 34.4

30

Financial statements • Certification of financial 
statements

FAA – section 62

FPMS – sections 42, 43 and 50

ARRs – section 18.1

42

• Independent Auditors Report FAA – section 62

FPMS – section 50

ARRs – section 18.2

43

• Remuneration disclosures Financial Reporting 
Requirements for Queensland 
Government Agencies

ARRs – section 18.3

59

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009 
FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009
ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies

Compliance checklist
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ANZSOG Australia and New Zealand School of Government

ARMC Audit and Risk Management Committee

CaPE Conduct and Performance Excellence

CCE Commission chief executive

DG Director-General

DPC Department of the Premier and Cabinet

ECAD Executive Capability Assessment and Development

EEO Equal Employment Opportunity

ELP Emerging Leaders Program

EMG Executive Management Group

EVP Employee value proposition

HR Human resource

IR Industrial relations

JAG Department of Justice and the Attorney-General

LCAD Leaders Capability Assessment and Development

LTMS Leadership Talent Management Strategy

OFSWQ Office of Fair and Safe Work Queensland

PPMM Practical People Management Matters

PSBA Public Safety Business Agency

PSC Public Service Commission

PSMP Public Sector Management Program

QAO Queensland Audit Office

QPSICC Queensland Public Sector Inclusion Champions of Change

QUT Queensland University of Technology

SHR-CAD Strategic Human Resource-Capability Assessment and Development

SLT Senior Leadership Team

TMS Talent management strategy

WCSP Workforce Capability Success Profile

WISE Women in Senior Executive
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